

DEMOGRAPHIC RESEARCH

VOLUME 49, ARTICLE 4, PAGES 47–82 PUBLISHED 7 JULY 2023

https://www.demographic-research.org/Volumes/Vol49/4/ DOI: 10.4054/DemRes.2023.49.4

Research Article

Separation as an accelerator of housing inequalities: Parents' and children's postseparation housing careers in Sweden

Kirsten van Houdt

© 2023 Kirsten van Houdt.

This open-access work is published under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Germany (CC BY 3.0 DE), which permits use, reproduction, and distribution in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are given credit.

See https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/de/legalcode.

Contents

1	Introduction	48
2	The current study	49
3	Background	50
3.1	Separation and housing careers	50
3.2	Socioeconomic inequalities in housing careers	51
3.3	Separation as an accelerator of housing inequalities	52
3.4	Differences between fathers and mothers	54
3.5	The Swedish context	55
4	Data and method	56
4.1	Data	56
4.2	Measures	57
4.2.1	Demographic variables	57
4.2.2	Housing variables	58
4.3	Analytical strategy	61
5	Results	61
5.1	Moving	61
5.1.1	Moving frequency	62
5.1.2	Distance	63
5.2	Home ownership	65
5.2.1	Type of housing	66
5.2.2	Neighborhood deprivation	67
5.3	Control variables	68
5.4	Additional analyses	69
6	Conclusion/discussion	69
7	Acknowledgements	71
	References	72
	Appendix: Supplemental results	78

Separation as an accelerator of housing inequalities: Parents' and children's post-separation housing careers in Sweden

Kirsten van Houdt¹

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Parents who separate face the challenge of an urgent change in housing needs. Both parents have their individual needs – e.g., proximity to work – as well as the common need to provide stability for their children and to stay involved – e.g., proximity to school and living space for the children. The urgency and specificity of the needs might be particularly problematic for parents with few financial resources, especially in today's competitive housing market.

OBJECTIVE

The aim of this study is to show whether, and to what extent, the consequences of parental separation for housing careers are stratified by parents' income.

METHODS

Using Swedish administrative data, the study analyzes pre- and post-separation housing careers (moving distance, frequency, housing type, and neighborhood) of parents with minor children between 2011 and 2020 (N = 27,204 parent couples).

RESULTS

Parents with lower incomes suffer greater increases in housing instability after a separation, with more frequent moves and a higher tendency to exchange owner-occupied for rental housing. In addition, they move over longer distances and end up living further away from each other. At the same time, parents with middle and higher incomes suffer the largest downgrades in housing type and neighborhood deprivation, mothers in particular.

CONCLUSIONS

Although the results imply that a separation involves a certain level of convergence in housing inequalities, lower-income parents also experience a downgrade and are, preand post-separation, worst off.

¹ Swedish Institute for Social Research (SOFI), Stockholm University, Sweden, and Statistics Netherlands (CBS), the Netherlands. Email: kirsten.vanhoudt@sofi.su.se.

CONTRIBUTION

This study reveals that housing instability forms another, underexposed way in which lower-income families suffer stronger economic and potentially emotional consequences of separation.

1. Introduction

Due to rising divorce rates and the increasing popularity of nonmarital childbearing, it is increasingly common for children to experience parental separation (Thomson 2014). A separation is a disruptive life event, especially if it involves children. At least one of the parents will have to find a new place to live, and in many cases both will have to relocate because the financial burden of the former joint house cannot be carried by a single parent (André, Dewilde, and Muffels 2019). Finding a new house is a challenge, especially in the competitive housing markets in urbanized areas (Musterd et al. 2017). Yet, for recently separated parents, what is even more challenging is that the need for a new residence is urgent, they have to deal with the emotional, practical, and financial implications of the separation (Amato, 2000), and, given joint responsibility for the children, they have to live within close proximity of each other (Van der Wiel, Kooiman, and Mulder 2021). Not surprisingly, a separation most commonly involves a downgrade in housing conditions (e.g., fewer rooms, less outdoor space) and an increase in the distance between children and the non-residential parent (Dewilde 2008; Feijten and Van Ham 2010; Ferrari, Bonnet, and Solaz 2019; Mikolai and Kulu 2018).

A residential move can have a large impact on children's lives, especially if it concerns changing neighborhood or even city or town, as that intervenes with important dimensions of children's lives, such as friends, school, and sports clubs. High residential mobility is associated with all kinds of negative outcomes among children and adults, such as health problems, depression, behavioral problems, and lower educational attainment (Choi and Oishi 2020; Jelleyman and Spencer 2008). Although moves often entail an improvement in housing conditions or neighborhood context, an often urgent and involuntary post-separation move is commonly 'disadvantaging' (Lupton 2016). The place where people end up – the neighborhood, the location, and the residence – affects individuals' and families' wellbeing and functioning (Bratt 2002; Campagna 2016; Zavisca and Gerber 2016).

Thus, parents' opportunities in the housing market can have far-reaching consequences regarding the impact level of a separation. Although a separation involves a housing downgrade for almost any parent couple (Feijten and Van Ham 2007; Ferrari, Bonnet, and Solaz 2019), parents who manage to provide stability – that is, a home in the

same neighborhood, with long-term potential – minimize the extent to which their separation disrupts their children's lives (Amato 2000). By contrast, having few options, having to move between temporary solutions, and having to settle for a home out of reach of the former living environment increase children's experience of the separation as disruptive. In other words, inequalities in post-separation residential mobility and housing conditions might play an important role in the well-established finding that family instability amplifies socioeconomic inequalities (Hogendoorn, Leopold, and Bol 2020; McLanahan 2004; McLanahan, and Percheski 2008). Unfortunately, we know very little about socioeconomic stratification in the effects of separation on housing careers.

2. The current study

The aim of this study is to show whether and to what extent the consequences of parental separation for housing careers are stratified by parents' income, and thus to add to our understanding of and knowledge about socioeconomic inequality as a consequence of separation. The study also helps to identify groups that are particularly vulnerable in the housing market, which is of crucial importance, given the current housing crisis. I consider a number of outcomes: moving distance, distance between parents, quality of housing, and neighborhood characteristics. I analyze Swedish administrative data on the housing careers of separated parents with young children – pre- and post-separation – and compare parents with different levels of income.

The contribution of this study is twofold. First, it integrates research on postseparation housing careers with research on housing inequalities. Although the two fields acknowledge the link between separation and socioeconomic inequalities, the way in which inequalities interact with the housing consequences of separation has received limited attention. There is some research on the relation between income and geographical distance between separated parents and their former joint house, showing that income is negatively associated with distance in Sweden and France (Ferrari, Bonnet, and Solaz 2019; Stjernström and Strömgren 2012), yet no association was found in the United Kingdom (Thomas, Mulder, and Cooke 2018). Furthermore, those with higher incomes – and especially the partner with the higher income – are less likely to move following a separation (Ferrari, Bonnet, and Solaz 2019; Gram-Hanssen and Bech-Danielsen 2008; Mulder and Malmberg 2011; Mulder et al. 2012). Findings from Hungarian survey data indicate that the likelihood of moving during the years after a divorce or separation follows different patterns for people from different socioeconomic backgrounds, but not in any clear, systematic way (Murinkó 2019). As these studies concern comparisons within the group of separated persons, they do not tell us whether separation affects housing careers differently for different people. For example, separated

parents with lower income might live in lower-quality housing, but that might not be unique to post-separation housing careers per se, as income is related to housing quality in general. Identifying any stratified effects of separation requires a comparison with preseparation housing. As far as I am aware, only one study makes such a comparison, using French administrative data to show that those with lower incomes are more likely to stop owning their home and to move into smaller housing (Ferrari, Bonnet, and Solaz 2019)

Most previous work on post-separation housing careers has focused on the likelihood of moving, moving distance, and home ownership, with only a small number of studies considering moving frequency, home ownership, and type of housing (André, Dewilde, and Muffels 2019; Feijten and Van Ham 2010; Ferrari, Bonnet, and Solaz 2019; Gram-Hanssen and Bech-Danielsen 2008; Mikolai and Kulu 2018). The present study combines these different outcomes and adds another dimension: neighborhood context. As Lupton (2016) points out, there are different kinds of moves, and their impact on people's lives depend on a range of factors. For example, a move to a smaller house might not be a downgrade if it is located in a more advantaged neighborhood, and housing stability might have advantages over housing upgrading (Jelleyman and Spencer 2008). Therefore, in order to comprehensively examine inequalities in post-separation housing careers it is crucial to consider a wide range of housing dimensions.

3. Background

3.1 Separation and housing careers

In the social sciences, housing careers are most commonly approached via the life course perspective (Coulter, Ham, and Findlay 2016; Wagner and Mulder 2015), which is based on the idea that life courses are characterized by a multi-dimensional structure of interrelated life domains such as family life and professional career. These different domains shape needs and preferences for housing over the life course. For example, getting a new job might change the preferred location and having a child might require a more spacious house or a quieter neighborhood. These needs and preferences form the framework in which housing decisions are made. A residential relocation is costly, both financially and non-financially, and people therefore only move if the benefits outweigh the costs or if it is absolutely necessary. Thus, housing careers are tightly linked to life course transitions and housing mobility is often triggered by a change in a life course domain.

A separation can be considered a life course transition that comes with a particularly far-reaching change in housing needs, for three reasons. First, as the household splits in two, the couple loses its economy of scale. At least one and often both of the (ex-)partners

will have to find new housing, as the financial burden of the former joint house is often too high to be carried by a single person (André, Dewilde, and Muffels 2019; Mulder and Wagner 2010). Second, the need to move is urgent. Decisions made under the (time) pressure of a dissolved relationship might lead to suboptimal outcomes, like a low selling price for the joint home, or poor selection of new accommodation (Dewilde 2009). Third, if the former couple has children the ex-partners are spatially constrained. Ideally, the parents will reside close to each other and to the children's school so that the children can alternate between their parents relatively easily (Poortman and Van Gaalen 2017). This applies particularly in the Swedish context, where the post-separation involvement of both parents is relatively high (Fransson, Hjern, and Bergström 2018; Thomas, Mulder, and Cooke. 2018).

3.2 Socioeconomic inequalities in housing careers

Another crucial factor in explaining housing careers is access to resources. There is a rich literature describing housing as both an outcome of inequality (e.g., inequalities in access and quality) and a source of inequality (e.g., home ownership and the neighborhood as capital). As this study focuses on how housing careers develop after parental separation, it is mostly concerned with inequalities in housing as an outcome. I consider several dimensions of housing careers.

First, there are socioeconomic inequalities in access to housing. Those with greater financial resources can afford a wider range of dwellings. Apart from the ability to pay monthly running costs, the formal procedures of buying or renting require financial credibility such as a stable income, a certain amount of capital, and a clean credit record. Those who do not meet these criteria depend on social housing policies, such as housing allowances and public housing. Such arrangements provide relatively few options and little flexibility.

The Swedish case is characterized by a large, public housing sector, with stateregulated access and rent control but large shortages. The only alternative to the long housing queue is to sublet (so-called second-hand contracts) from individual property owners or first-hand renters, which is temporary by definition (one year maximum), more expensive, and unregulated, so landlords can choose tenants in any way they wish (often someone they know directly or indirectly, with a good financial record) (Lind 2014).

Second, inequalities in access to housing translate into inequalities in housing quality. For those with fewer resources, access is limited to poorer housing options. Lower-income families often have to compromise on both size and quality: The number of (bed)rooms per household member, the level of maintenance, and the number and quality of the facilities (e.g., bathroom, kitchen, balcony) tend to increase with the

household's income and education level (Ayala and Navarro 2007; Fusco 2015). Moreover, lower-income families more often experience crowding and reside in neighborhoods with limited facilities and infrastructure (Evans and Saegert 2000; Mood and Jonsson 2016).

3.3 Separation as an accelerator of housing inequalities

This study does not deal with income inequalities in housing careers per se but rather with inequalities in the extent to which separation changes housing careers (i.e., the interaction between economic indicators and separation). Those with fewer financial resources are in a more vulnerable position in the housing market than their more advantaged counterparts (Musterd et al. 2017). Therefore, I expect their housing careers to suffer stronger negative consequences from the sudden change in housing needs associated with a separation. I focus on five dimensions of housing careers: the likelihood of moving, moving distance (from the current to the new dwelling as well as between parents), moving frequency, type of housing, and neighborhood context.

A move requires all household members adjusting to a new living environment, which might be challenging and involves the loss of location-specific capital: Attachment to the neighborhood, friends and contacts in the area, local knowledge, and daily routines are all examples of things that take time and investment to obtain but are potentially lost with a residential move (Coulton, Theodos, and Turner 2012). When parents separate, moving is inevitable for at least one and potentially both parents. If one parent keeps the family dwelling, this offers a certain level of stability: even if the children spend time with both parents, they have the room, the house, and the environment they are familiar with. If, instead, both parents move into new homes, the children face an inevitable change in context. I expect that parents with fewer financial resources – that is, lower incomes – both have to move out following a separation more often than their more advantaged counterparts, where one is able to carry the financial burden of the family dwelling (Hypothesis 1).

Furthermore, the frequency of moving is an important factor, as frequent relocations can have negative outcomes for parents and children. For both children and adults the relationship between residential mobility and health problems, behavioral problems, depression, and lower educational attainment is well established in the existing literature (Choi and Oishi 2020; Jelleyman and Spencer 2008). In addition, moving is costly: Apart from moving the previous house's contents, furnishing the new house might require buying new items, and monthly housing costs might overlap. Generally, separated people move more frequently than non-separated people (Mikolai, Kulu, and Mulder 2020). Parents with fewer resources might have to move more often in order to find a residence

that meets their needs (i.e., pull mechanisms) (Feijten and Van Ham 2007) and those in more vulnerable positions in the housing market are also more vulnerable to forced moves; for example, because of temporary tenancies or their housing being demolished (i.e., push mechanisms) (Clark 2010). I expect that parents with lower incomes move more often than their more advantaged counterparts during the first years following a separation (Hypothesis 2).

An important determinant of the impact of a move is its distance: The greater the distance, the more likely it intervenes with location-specific capital and other life domains such as work, school, or sports (Coulton, Theodos, and Turner 2012). In the case of parental separation a move not only involves adjustment to a new house and neighborhood (or even two, for the children) but also coordination between the two households (Poortman and Van Gaalen 2017). The further apart parents live, the more difficult it is to fit contact with both parents into the children's daily lives (school, friends, sports) and the more effort it takes to maintain their relationships with both parents. In sum, both moving distance and distance between parents might amplify the difficulties parents and children face after a separation (Poortman 2021). Under the assumption that moving after a separation is driven by the need to live apart, rather than the desire for a new dwelling, parents will generally aim for minimal change (Thomas, Mulder, and Cooke 2017; Thomas, Mulder, and Cooke 2018). For example, they want their children to stay at the same school and to maintain their social network. Yet, given the lower level of flexibility and the more limited range of options, I expect that for separated parents with fewer financial resources it is more difficult to find housing meeting those preferences, forcing them to move longer distances (Hypothesis 3) and as a consequence end up living further apart (Hypothesis 4). This is in line with previous findings (Ferrari, Bonnet, and Solaz 2019; Stjernström and Strömgren 2012).

Lastly, parents with fewer resources might experience a deeper drop in their housing career after a separation than more advantaged parents. Parents who manage to find acceptable housing after their separation (for example, buying a different dwelling or finding an affordable tenancy) do not suffer too great a financial loss. Meanwhile, parents who are not able to get a mortgage by themselves and have few affordable options in the rental sector might have to accept suboptimal solutions, such as short-term contracts or a rent they cannot really afford (André, Dewilde, and Muffels 2019). Such an unstable solution, most probably requiring frequent moves (involving costs), combined with few financial buffers, could result in an accelerated level of deprivation as reflected in housing quality. In other words, separation could potentially amplify socioeconomic housing inequalities. I expect that parents with fewer financial resources more often move from owned to rental housing (Hypothesis 5), more often downgrade in terms of the type of housing (e.g., a single-family dwelling to an apartment, smaller number of rooms) (Hypothesis 6), and more often downgrade in terms of neighborhood (Hypothesis 7).

At the same time, there is also a structural argument to make for convergence rather than divergence of housing quality after separation: Those with a higher standard of housing before the separation have more to lose. Parents who were already living at the minimum – for example, in a small, badly maintained apartment in a disadvantaged neighborhood – do not have so far to fall before they hit the bottom, especially in a generous welfare state. By contrast, parents with a high standard of living – for example, a spacious house with a garden in a popular area – have further to fall. This argument is in line with the previous finding that those with higher incomes are more likely to move into smaller housing (Ferrari, Bonnet, and Solaz 2019).

3.4 Differences between fathers and mothers

The consequences of parental separation are gendered. Whereas fathers suffer the strongest negative consequences regarding parent-child relations (Kalmijn et al. 2019), mothers suffer the most severe economic consequences (Hogendoorn, Leopold, and Bol 2020). These economic consequences for mothers are also reflected in their postseparation housing careers: Mothers are more likely than fathers to exchange owneroccupation for rental housing and more often move into a smaller house (Ferrari, Bonnet, and Solaz 2019; Mikolai and Kulu 2018). At the same time, mothers more often stay in the former joint home and move over shorter distances (Mulder and Malmberg 2011; Stjernström and Strömgren 2012). This is mainly due to the fact that children more often stay with their mother than their father after a separation (Thomas, Mulder, and Cooke. 2017, 2018). Yet, given this study's focus, the question is whether mothers' and fathers' post-separation housing careers are differently stratified by income. In other words, are there any gender differences in the mechanisms suggesting that separated parents with lower levels of income are more likely than their counterparts with higher levels of income to both leave the former joint house (H1), move more frequently (H2), move over longer distances (H3), move further apart (H4), exchange owner-occupied for rental housing (H5), and downgrade in terms of dwelling (H6) and neighborhood (H7)? The existing literature on the consequences of separation suggests that changes in household income (along with physical custody) are the most important mediator of differences between mothers' and fathers' housing careers (Hogendoorn, Leopold, and Bol 2020), but does not point to any clear gender differences in the way income moderates postseparation housing careers. Therefore, I adopted an exploratory approach to gender differences by conducting the analyses for mothers and fathers separately.

3.5 The Swedish context

Sweden provides an interesting context for this topic, as it a European forerunner in terms of family and welfare policies but is also experiencing major housing issues.

Since the upward trend in divorce levelled off at the turn of the century, Sweden's divorce rate is no longer exceptionally high in comparison to other European countries (Andersson and Kolk 2015; Sandström and Garðarsdóttir 2018). However, Sweden stands out in terms of its high share of cohabiting unions (Ohlsson-Wijk, Turunen, and Andersson 2020): More than half of Swedish children are born to (unmarried) cohabiting partners (Andersson, Thomson, and Duntava 2017; Thomson 2005). Although marital and non-marital partnerships are more similar in Sweden than in most other Western countries in terms of stability (Andersson, Thomson, and Duntava 2017) and legal status (Perelli-Harris and Gassen 2012), unmarried parents are more likely to separate than married parents. This means that in Sweden, relatively many separations involve children. At age 15, 28% of the Swedish children have experienced parental separation (Andersson, Thomson, and Duntava 2017).

After a separation, Swedish parents continue to share legal custody of their children. Parents are generally free to decide how they divide the care and residence of their children after separation, but over the last decades there has been a strong trend towards a more gender-equal division. Whereas in the early 1990s only 4% of the children spent half of their time living with both of their separated parents (with the majority living with their mother), this percentage had increased to 32% by 2010 (Fransson, Hjern, and Bergström 2018; Ministry of Social Affairs 2011). In most other cases, children live primarily with one of their parents (in most cases the mother) but see the other parent on a regular basis (Ministry of Social Affairs 2011).

The relatively high involvement of Swedish fathers in post-separation child arrangements reflects the strong promotion of gender equality in childcare and the labor market. The Swedish state has the highest proportion of female labor market participation in the EU (International Labour Organization 2021) and strongly supports the dual-earner model and the financial self-reliance of both men and women. For example, Sweden adopted gender-neutral parental leave in the early 1970s, facilitating both parents' involvement in their children's early years and minimizing the gendered consequences of parenthood for the professional career.

Furthermore, the Swedish welfare state aims to buffer the economic consequences of separation to a considerable degree. A package of taxes and transfers alleviates socioeconomic differences between households, including single-parent households. For example, all families receive payment for each minor child and an income-based housing allowance, public childcare is highly subsidized, and if parents are separated the parent with whom the child lives receives obligatory child support payments (guaranteed by the state).

Although the Swedish welfare state is internationally known as generous and egalitarian, since the 1980s Sweden has lost its top position in the international economic equality ranking (Therborn 2020). The welfare state has been shrinking slowly but steadily; for example, by cutting income replacement policies such as unemployment benefits. This has had a stronger negative effect on the relative income position of single (parent) households than on dual-earner households (Alm, Nelson, and Nieuwenhuis 2019). Another important driver of growing inequality is the concentration of capital income, particularly from capital gains such as stocks and real estate. These inequalities are currently reflected in the Swedish housing crisis (Grander 2017). Due to a shortage of rental accommodation, waiting queues have been growing over the last decades (in 2022 the waiting time was 9 years on average, with the cities as positive outliers). At the same time, generous mortgage taxes have been encouraging households to buy property, driving up housing prices – by 18% between 2020 and 2021 (Svensk Mäklarstatistik 2021). This forces a growing group of people who cannot afford to buy a house into private rentals, with much higher prices and without legal rights.

4. Data and method

4.1 Data

Using data from the Swedish administrative registers (provided by Statistics Sweden; SCB), this study analyzes the housing careers of couples with children between the years 2011 and 2020. A system of unique personal identifiers enables linking several administrative registries (such as information on income and housing from tax registers and information on education from the Swedish Agency for Higher Vocational Education) as well as linking partners (including ex-partners) and parents to children.

In this context, the use of administrative data has a number of important advantages. Surveys suffer from selective non-response and (in the case of a panel design) selective drop-out. Those with stable family relationships are more likely to participate in surveys, resulting in an under-representation of separated couples. In addition, reaching those with turbulent housing careers is difficult as the survey invitation might never reach them: moving house is a major cause of drop-out in panel surveys (Plewis, Ketende, and Joshi 2008; Washbrook, Clarke, and Steele 2014). Furthermore, surveys are commonly restricted to family members within the household, excluding ex-partners, and do not allow studying the interdependence of (former) couples' lives after their separation. The use of the Swedish administrative registers overcomes these problems by providing reliable, longitudinal data on all Swedish residents.

I analyze housing careers from 2011 onwards because it allows me to distinguish people living in the same building but in different apartments (who would have been registered as living in the same house in previous years). Especially in the case of coparenting, in which ex-partners might desire to live in close proximity, this is an important level of detail to include.

Based on the birth registers, I selected different-sex couples, registered as having lived together at least one year between 2013 and 2016, having separated in 2017 or earlier, with at least one (legal) child aged below 10 at the time of separation. This time window allows me to study their pre- and post-separation housing careers for at least three years. The age restriction for the children allows me to capture the time in which children are most dependent on their parents, when the post-separation co-parenting dynamics are most clearly reflected. I excluded couples in which one or both parents already had children with a previous partner, couples in which one or both moved abroad, couples who reunited during the period of observation, and couples in which one or both deceased before the end of observation. By focusing on this final sample of 27,204 first-time parent couples I exclude a number of factors that go beyond the scope of this study and would complicate the comparison between separated and non-separated parents (e.g., widowhood or international migration).

4.2 Measures

4.2.1 Demographic variables

Family structure. The data represent yearly measures (December 31^{st}) of each year I observed the parent couple (regardless of whether they were together or separated). I considered the parents separated in the year they registered at different addresses (each address is represented by an untraceable, unique code). For each year, the data show the number of (legal) children, their age, and whether they are registered as living with their parent(s), as well as any new partners registered at the same address. In the analyses I included the age of the couple's youngest child and their number of children at the end of the year of their separation. In addition, for the mother and father separately, I included whether (one of) the children were registered at their address (yes/no) and whether there was a new partner registered as well (yes/no) – both measured at the end of the year of the separation.

Income. Separation and income are partly endogenous (Hogendoorn, Leopold, and Bol 2020), and might be subject to fluctuations during the separation. To gain insight into the longer-term effect of income on (post-separation) housing careers rather than the (temporary) effect of separation on income I considered income in the three years prior

to separation. The measure represents personal disposable income, including income from labor, capital gains (or losses), social benefits, allowances, and alimony (received and paid). I averaged the income of these three years (for the mother and father separately), and constructed tertiles on the basis of their birth cohort. In comparison to including income as a continuous predictor, this categorical, relative measure allows for any non-linearity in the effect of income and provides a more insightful view of the level of stratification. In addition to this measure, I constructed a measure representing the share of the contribution of each parents' individual income to the household income during these three years, ranging from 0 (indicating that the parent had no income, but the partner did) to 1 (the parent had an income, and the partner did not).

Control variables. For both parents, I distinguished three levels of education: (1) less than higher secondary education, (2) completed higher secondary education, (3) completed tertiary education. In Sweden, education is state funded (including universities) and children follow compulsory schooling for ten years, starting when they turn six. In addition, the models included parents' age (in years), marital status (married/cohabiting), unemployment (yes/no), and whether they lived in one of Sweden's nine largest cities (yes/no, based on the number of residents registered in the municipality), all measured at the time of separation.

4.2.2 Housing variables

Moving and distance. I defined a move as a change of registered address. The data provide (encrypted) coordinates of each address with a precision of 250x250 meters in urban areas and 500x500 meters in non-urban areas. Using these coordinates, I calculated the distance between parents' houses and the distance of moves (for the father and the mother separately) at the end of the first year after the separation (31st of December). Note that the time between the actual separation and the (yearly) measurement varies between 12 months and one day, meaning that this move does not necessarily represent the first move (although in most cases it does).

Moving frequency. Based on the first three years after the separation, I constructed a measure counting the total number of registered moves (throughout the year) for the father and mother separately.

Housing type. Roughly two types of houses are distinguished in the registration of dwellings: apartments and single-family houses (*småhus*). For apartments, the number of rooms (of at least 7 square meters, not being the kitchen and bathroom, and involving direct daylight) is registered. Based on this information, I classified dwellings in three groups, in descending order of size: (1) single-family houses, (2) apartments with more than two rooms, and (3) apartments with two rooms or less. This classification builds on

the assumption that single-family houses are in general more spacious than apartments and tend to have more outdoor space. This a necessary simplification, given the lack of data on the number of rooms in single-family houses. Using the classification, I constructed a dichotomous measure indicating whether the post-separation housing was a downgrade compared to the pre-separation housing (yes/no).

Home ownership. Dwellings are registered as owner-occupied or rental housing, which I used to construct a dichotomous measure of owner-occupied housing (yes/no). Note that the measure does not indicate which family member is registered as the owner.

Neighborhood deprivation. SCB uses a 9-digit regional division of Sweden, the socalled DeSO (Demografiska statistikområden; Demographic Statistics Area) to produce statistical data on smaller areas representing people's more direct living environment. The division distinguishes almost 6,000 areas with between 700 and 2,700 inhabitants and takes geographical conditions into account so that the boundaries of each DeSO align with, for example, railways, roads, and watercourses. To illustrate, Stockholm metropolitan area consists of 1,287 DeSOs. For each DeSO, I used the unemployment rate, the percentage of foreign-born individuals, the average income, and the percentage of lower-educated individuals (secondary education or less, aged 18 and older) to construct a measure of neighborhood deprivation, which is a predicted factor score (factor analysis, maximum likelihood estimation). A higher score represents a higher level of neighborhood deprivation, indicating a higher unemployment rate, a larger percentage of foreign-born and lower-educated individuals, and a lower average income. This measure was based on data from 2011 (the start of the window of observation), meaning that for each DeSO it is constant over time and that change can only occur by moving to a different DeSO. Although any meaningful neighborhood change within the observed time span is unlikely (Meen, Nygaard, and Meen 2013), this is also a way to tease out those changes that are directly caused by the move.

Table 1 shows the descriptive statistics of the variables included in the analyses, separated by income tertile, and for mothers and fathers separately. Note that the distribution over the income tertiles reflects that parental separation is more common in the lower income tertiles, in line with previous research (Raley and Sweeney 2020).

		Mothers			Fathers		
Income tertile	Lowest	Middle	Highest	Lowest	Middle	Highest	
N	11,032	8,957	7,215	11,276	9,173	6,755	
Demographics	M/Prop.	M/Prop.	M/Prop.	M/Prop.	M/Prop.	M/Prop.	SD
Age ¹	33.84	35.98	38.84	37.51	38.04	40.80	5.72
Contribution to household income ²	0.36	0.45	0.50	0.51	0.60	0.64	0.14
Education ¹							
Less than secondary	0.17	0.07	0.04	0.26	0.13	0.06	
Secondary	0.40	0.38	0.24	0.43	0.54	0.35	
Tertiary	0.43	0.56	0.73	0.32	0.33	0.58	
Unemployed (ref.no) ²	0.24	0.06	0.04	0.21	0.04	0.02	
Parents were married (ref. cohabiting)	0.22	0.22	0.26	0.21	0.23	0.26	
No. of children ¹	1.80	1.87	1.94	1.77	1.90	1.97	0.76
Age youngest child ¹	4.78	5.79	6.48	5.02	5.72	6.26	2.66
Co-resident children (ref. no)1	0.73	0.65	0.64	0.29	0.38	0.45	
Lives with new partner (ref. no)1	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.05	0.03	0.02	
City (ref. no) ²	0.28	0.26	0.36	0.31	0.25	0.34	
Pre-separation housing							
Moving frequency (three years) ³	0.59	0.39	0.34	0.60	0.37	0.34	0.78
Housing type ²							
Apartment < 3 rooms	0.10	0.05	0.04	0.11	0.04	0.03	
Apartment > 2 rooms	0.39	0.26	0.23	0.42	0.24	0.21	
Single family house	0.51	0.69	0.73	0.47	0.72	0.76	
Owner-occupied housing (ref. rental) ²	0.59	0.78	0.89	0.57	0.81	0.91	
Neighborhood deprivation ²	0.27	-0.12	-0.52	0.28	-0.12	-0.58	0.91
Post-separation housing							
Moved (ref. not moved) ¹	0.67	0.71	0.66	0.58	0.48	0.45	
Both moved (ref. one/neither moved) ¹	0.17	0.20	0.24	0.19	0.20	0.22	
Moving frequency (three years) ⁴	1.32	1.26	1.09	1.25	0.93	0.83	1.07
Moving distance (km) ⁵	20.33	11.26	10.10	19.19	14.54	13.47	59.83
Distance between parents (km) ¹	19.08	12.69	10.67	19.37	12.16	10.56	57.74
Housing type ¹							
Apartment < 3 rooms	0.24	0.18	0.14	0.26	0.14	0.11	
Apartment > 2 rooms	0.48	0.46	0.42	0.36	0.39	0.30	
Single family house	0.28	0.35	0.44	0.38	0.56	0.59	
Owner-occupied housing (ref. rental) ¹	0.40	0.54	0.77	0.51	0.74	0.85	
Neighborhood deprivation ¹	0.36	0.04	-0.38	0.33	-0.03	-0.49	0.90

Descriptive statistics of the analytical sample Table 1:

Source: Statistics Sweden Notes: ¹ Measurement December 31st after the separation.

³ Measurement December 31st before the separation.
³ Sum of the number of moves in the 3 calendar years preceding the year of separation.
⁴ Sum of the number of moves in the 3 calendar years following the year of separation.
⁵ Based on the measurement at December 31st before the separation and December 31st after the separation.

4.3 Analytical strategy

Given that this study is the first to consider income stratification in post-separation housing careers, it is important to provide a clear, descriptive image. As the upper part of Table 1 shows, the different income tertile groups have quite different demographic make-ups. For example, higher-earning parents tend to separate at a higher age, are more highly educated, and are more often unemployed. Therefore, assessing the role of income in post-separation housing careers requires taking these differences into account, rather than a purely descriptive approach. In addition, the housing career consists of many dimensions (bottom part of Table 1) which cannot be captured in one single analytical framework, and requires different types of models. Therefore, the analyses consist of separate models predicting the different dimensions of housing, controlling for the demographic variables. To explore gender differences in income stratification in post-separation housing careers I performed separate analyses for fathers and mothers. All standard errors were adjusted for clustering within municipalities.

5. Results

5.1 Moving

Figures 1a and 1b show the marginal prediction (and 95% confidence intervals) of the proportion of parent couples who both moved out of the family home during the first year after separation, by income tertile of the mother and father respectively. These estimates were based on a logistic regression model (Table A-1).

In general, the results show that in the majority of parent couples (around fourfifths), one partner stays in the pre-separation family home after the separation. In contrast to the first hypothesis, higher income is associated with a higher rather than a lower likelihood of both parents moving to a new dwelling. The differences are most pronounced among mothers' income tertiles, with a difference of more than 11 percentage points between the lowest (15.6%) and the highest (25.9%) income tertile.



Figure 1: Both parents moving after separation

5.1.1 Moving frequency

Figures 2a and 2b show the marginal prediction of the number of moves of fathers and mothers in the first 3 years after separation, separated by income tertile. As this outcome is a count variable, the estimates were based on Poisson regression models (Table A-1). In addition to the demographic variables, the models were controlled for the number of moves during the 3 years preceding the separation in order to take any initial differences in the tendency to move – unrelated to the separation – into account.

Among both fathers and mothers, parents with lower incomes move most often, which is in line with the second hypothesis. Mothers in the lowest and middle income tertile move on average 1.25 times, whereas mothers in the highest income tertile move on average 1.19 times. Among fathers, the main distinction is between the lowest tertile and the one hand and the middle and highest tertiles on the other (1.09 vs. 0.98 times respectively). These findings suggest that although parents with higher incomes both move out of the family home more often, their housing careers appear to be more stable in the years that follow. From a couple perspective, the lower the income relative to the partner's before the separation, the larger the number of moves. Yet, considering the standard deviation of the frequency of moving (1.07), the differences are relatively small.



Figure 2: Number of moves in the first 3 years after separation

5.1.2 Distance

Figures 3a and 3b show the marginal prediction of the distance of fathers' and mothers' moves in kilometers, based on the comparison between the location registered on December 31st before the separation and the location registered on the first December 31st after the separation. It only includes the parents who moved (18,529 mothers and 14,041 fathers). The estimates were based on linear regression models (Table A-1, Appendix). Given the skewed distribution of the dependent variable, the same models were applied to the natural logarithm of the distance in order to meet the model's requirement (normal distribution) more closely. Given that the effects were similar in terms of their direction and relevance (t-score), for a more intuitive interpretation I only present the predictions of the original variable.

The average distances are quite substantial, approximately 15 kilometers, reflecting that it is quite common to cross municipal or even regional borders. As a reference, Sweden measures approximately 1,500 kilometers from north to south. In line with the third hypothesis, income is negatively associated with the distance moved for mothers. While the moves of mothers in the lowest income tertile are on average 18.6 kilometers, the moves of mothers in the middle and higher income tertiles are shorter, with an average of 11.5 kilometers. Among fathers there are no significant differences between the income tertiles.



Figure 3: Distance of the first move

Figures 4a and 4b show the marginal prediction of the distance between the parents in kilometers, based on a comparison of their locations registered on the first December 31st after the separation. The estimates were based on a linear regression model (Table A-1). An alternative model predicting the natural logarithm showed comparable results.

In line with the fourth hypothesis, the distance between the parents shows more or less the same pattern as the moving distance for mothers (Figures 3a and 3b), with larger distances between parents in the lowest income tertile than in the middle and highest income tertiles. However, in this case the differences are more or less similar for mothers' and fathers' tertiles.



Figure 4: Distance between the parents in the first year after separation

5.2 Home ownership

Figures 5a and 5b show the marginal prediction of the proportion of mothers and fathers (respectively) who moved from owner-occupied to rental housing in the year of their separation, by income tertile. The estimates were based on logistic regression models (Table A-2) and only include parents who lived in owner-occupied housing before the separation took place (19,982 mothers and 19,982 fathers).

The estimates show a remarkable gender difference. Moving from owner-occupied housing into rental housing is much more common among mothers than among fathers. This is (at least partly) a reflection of the fact that mothers move out more often than fathers (in 67% of the cases versus in 51% of the cases). In line with the fifth hypothesis, moving into rental housing is negatively associated with income: Among former home-owners, parents in the lowest income tertile most often move into rental housing after their separation (40% of the mothers and 20% of the fathers). This is most uncommon among the highest income tertile (20% of the mothers and 11% of the fathers); the middle income tertile lies in between. These differences cannot be explained by group differences in parents' tendency to move after separation.



Figure 5: Move from owner-occupied housing to rental housing

5.2.1 Type of housing

Figures 6a and 6b show the marginal prediction of the proportion of mothers and fathers who made a downward move in terms of type of housing in the year of their separation, by income tertile. More specifically, it shows parents who moved from a single-family house into an apartment, or from an apartment with more than two rooms into an apartment with two rooms or less. The estimates were based on logistic regression models (Table A-2).

The estimates show that, among mothers, income is positively associated with making a downward move, as opposed to the sixth hypothesis. Mothers in the highest and middle income tertiles make a downward move in more than 40% of the cases, whereas mothers in the lowest tertile make a downward move only in 33% of the cases. There are no significant differences between fathers with different levels of income. For both mothers and fathers, the lower their income relative to their partner's income before the separation, the more likely a downward move.



Figure 6: Downgrade in type of housing

Figure 6a. Marginal means by mother's income tertile

5.2.2 Neighborhood deprivation

Figures 7a and 7b show the marginal prediction of change in the neighborhood deprivation index by income tertile, based on the comparison of mothers' and fathers' pre-separation DeSO and post-separation DeSO. A positive score indicates that the parent moved to a more deprived neighborhood. The estimates were based on linear regression models (Table A-2).

The results show that on average separated parents live in more deprived areas than they did before the separation, with mothers making more of a downward move than fathers. Yet, as with the type of housing, and contrary to the seventh hypothesis, it appears that parents in the higher income tertiles have most to lose. Among mothers, the middle and highest income tertiles experience an increase of around 0.15 on the deprivation scale, whereas this is only 0.08 for their lowest-income-tertile counterparts. Among fathers the differences are slightly bigger, 0.03 versus 0.11. Furthermore, the lower the income relative to the partner's before separation, the more likely a move to a more deprived area.



Figure 7: Change in neighborhood deprivation rate

5.3 Control variables

Although there is some variation in the outcomes concerning the role of the control variables, there are some general patterns.

Having children registered at the same address is negatively associated with the number of moves, moving into rental housing, an increase in neighborhood deprivation, and a downgrade in type of housing. This could indicate that when considering the children's primary residence (with the father or the mother), parents take the level of housing stability and conditions into account. Alternatively, parents with whom the children are registered receive more (formal or informal) support, providing them with better opportunities. In addition, the age of the youngest child negatively affects the distance of the move and the distance between the parents, but is also associated with a higher likelihood of downgrade in the type of housing. Given the sample's age range (0 to 10), this possibly reflects parents' preference that the children keep attending the same school, which possibly comes at the cost of the type of available housing. Lastly, parents' housing careers generally seem to benefit from higher levels of education and being employed.

5.4 Additional analyses

Differences in income possibly play a more important role in areas with highly competitive housing markets, which raises the question of the extent to which the results are driven by such areas. Therefore, I estimated the effect of income separately for the three largest local labor markets² (Stockholm, Gothenburg, and Malmö) and the rest of the country, for all the outcomes (Table A-3 and A-4). In general, the observed income stratification in post-separation housing careers is not driven by the three largest local labor markets, as they apply to these areas as well as the rest of Sweden, However, some differences between parents with different levels of income are larger in the three largest local labor markets. Parents in the higher income tertiles are more likely to both move out of the former joint house in general, but this difference is larger for fathers living in these areas than in the rest of Sweden. Although, in general, mothers with higher levels of income have a lower frequency of post-separation moving, this does not hold for mothers living in the three largest local labor markets. Furthermore, lower-income parents' higher likelihood of moving from owner-occupied to rental housing, as well as their lower likelihood of downgrading in terms of type of house or neighborhood, is more pronounced in these areas. Whereas fathers with different levels of income in general do not differ in their likelihood of downgrading in type of housing, fathers in the highest income tertile living in the three largest local labor markets are more likely to downgrade than their lower- and middle-income counterparts. Income stratification in the distance moved and the distance between parents does not differ between these areas and the rest of Sweden.

6. Conclusion/discussion

Separated parents form a particularly vulnerable group in today's competitive housing market. The urgent and complex housing needs resulting from a separation might be even more difficult for parents with few financial resources. This study is the first to provide a multi-dimensional overview of the level of income stratification in parents' post-separation housing careers.

The findings show that parents with lower incomes experience greater increases in housing instability, with more frequent moves and a higher tendency to exchange owner-

² Local labor markets are economically integrated areas in which individuals' home and work are within a reasonable distance of each other. SCB provides a yearly list, assigning each Swedish municipality to a local labor market: https://www.scb.se/hitta-statistik/statistik-efter-amne/arbetsmarknad/sysselsattning-forvarvsar bete-och-arbetstider/registerbaserad-arbetsmarknadsstatistik-rams/produktrelaterat/Fordjupad-information/lokala-arbetsmarknader-la/forteckning-over-lokala-arbetsmarknader/

occupation for rental housing. In addition, they move over longer distances and live further apart. This implies that parents with lower incomes end up further away from their former living environment, and that encounters with their children involve more travelling. On top of the financial costs of moving and travelling, maintaining the relationship between children and both parents involves both parents and children having to deal with bigger challenges and a larger burden of adjusting to a new environment.

At the same time, I found that in terms of housing type and neighborhood deprivation the middle- and higher-income parents suffer the largest downgrades, mothers in particular. This could reflect a floor effect: Those who are already living in small apartments in deprived neighborhoods cannot fall any further, while for those in large houses in popular neighborhoods almost any move involves a downgrade. Yet, although this implies that a separation involves a certain level of convergence between the housing careers of lower-income parents and their more advantaged counterparts, they all experience a downgrade, and after a separation lower-income parents are still worse off.

Mothers' and fathers' post-separation housing careers differ in several dimensions in absolute terms, in line with previous studies (Ferrari, Bonnet, and Solaz 2019; Mikolai and Kulu 2018). Mothers move more frequently, move more often from owner-occupied to rental housing, and experience stronger downgrades in type of housing and neighborhood. Although the way fathers' and mothers' post-separation housing careers are stratified by income is relatively similar, differences by income in the likelihood of both parents moving out, moving distance, moving into rental housing, and downgrading in type of housing are stronger among mothers than among fathers. In other words, the post-separation housing careers of mothers – who suffer more severe economic consequences from a separation than fathers (Hogendoorn, Leopold, and Bol 2020) – depend more strongly on income.

The question that these data do not answer is the extent to which the observed patterns reflect inequalities in opportunities and constraints, or differences in preferences. First, the assumption that both parents want to stay involved in their children's lives might not hold equally for all parents. Unfortunately, the Swedish register data do not provide information on how parents divide childcare after the separation. Parenting arrangements probably not only drive but are also driven by housing outcomes and restrictions. Studying the interrelation between the two would be a valuable contribution to our understanding of the stratified consequences of separation. Second, parents might prefer staying in certain types of neighborhoods, despite the level of deprivation. For example, the places where parents move to might be driven by a need for support from their social network, especially if their financial resources are limited. Nevertheless, regardless of parents' motives, the disadvantages observed among the lowest income tertile – a larger distance between parents, moving from owner-occupied to rental housing, and moving

more frequently – all involve higher financial and emotional costs. Thus, housing careers can be considered yet another way in which the stratified effects of separation are manifested.

At the same time, the role of financial resources is more complicated than this descriptive study might suggest. By focusing on how pre-separation differences determine post-separation outcomes the analyses did not consider post-separation changes in income. Therefore, the housing inequalities observed here should not be considered separate from and additional to financial inequalities following parental separation, but rather a reflection and possibly an accelerator of financial inequalities. For example, a separated mother who experienced a deep drop in income by separating from a high-earning partner no longer has the financial resources to buy a house, and might end up spending a lot of money on moving between temporary contracts in the private rental sector. A more detailed analysis of the possible reinforcement of postseparation income loss and housing conditions could provide additional insights into the multidimensional character of the consequences of separation. Furthermore, although capital income is included in the measure of income, the data do not provide a direct measure of wealth. Next to income, financial capital plays an important role in the housing market (Fusco 2015). Whereas Sweden has a relatively flat income distribution, it has a high concentration of capital (Therborn 2020). Thus, the stratification by income considered in this study might underestimate economic inequalities in the effect of separation on housing careers.

This study shows that separated parents form a particularly vulnerable group in the housing market, which can cause additional stress and anxiety, especially for lower-income parents and their children (Bratt 2002; Campagna 2016). In both research and policy-making it is important to consider housing as a possible mediator of the negative consequences of separation. For example, in order to minimize instability after a separation, lower-income families need more support in finding a stable housing solution and a way to coordinate the involvement of both parents, despite the longer distances the children need to travel.

7. Acknowledgements

The author is grateful to Carina Mood for reading earlier versions of this article and for providing helpful comments. The research leading to these results received funding from Forte: The Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare (Grant 2016–07099).

References

- Alm, S., Nelson, K., and Nieuwenhuis, R. (2019). The diminishing power of one? Welfare state retrenchment and rising poverty of single-adult households in Sweden 1988–2011. *European Sociological Review* 36(2): 198–217. doi:10.1093/ esr/jcz053.
- Amato, P.R. (2000). The consequences of divorce for adults and children. Journal of Marriage and Family 62(4): 1269–1287. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.01269.x.
- Andersson, G. and Kolk, M. (2015). Trends in childbearing, marriage and divorce in Sweden: An update with data up to 2012. *Finnish Yearbook of Population Research*, 50, 21–30. doi:10.23979/fypr.52483.
- Andersson, G., Thomson, E., and Duntava, A. (2017). Life-table representations of family dynamics in the 21st century. *Demographic Research* 37(35): 1081–1230. doi:10.4054/DemRes.2017.37.35.
- André, S., Dewilde, C., and Muffels, R. (2019). What do housing wealth and tenure have to do with it? Changes in wellbeing of men and women after divorce using Australian panel data. *Social Science Research* 78: 104–118. doi:10.1016/j.ss research.2018.12.017.
- Ayala, L. and Navarro, C. (2007). The dynamics of housing deprivation. Journal of Housing Economics 16(1): 72–97. doi:10.1016/j.jhe.2007.03.001.
- Bratt, R.G. (2002). Housing and family well-being. *Housing Studies* 17(1): 13–26. doi:10.1080/02673030120105857.
- Campagna, G. (2016). Linking crowding, housing inadequacy, and perceived housing stress. *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 45: 252–266. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp. 2016.01.002.
- Choi, H. and Oishi, S. (2020). The psychology of residential mobility: A decade of progress. *Current Opinion in Psychology* 32: 72–75. doi:10.1016/j.copsyc. 2019.07.008.
- Clark, S.L. (2010). Housing instability: Toward a better understanding of frequent residential mobility among America's urban poor. Washington, D.C.: Center for Housing Policy.
- Coulter, R., Van Ham, M., and Findlay, A.M. (2016). Re-thinking residential mobility:Linking lives through time and space. *Progress in Human Geography* 40(3): 352–374. doi:10.1177/0309132515575417.

- Coulton, C., Theodos, B., and Turner, M.A. (2012). Residential mobility and neighborhood change: Real neighborhoods under the microscope. *Cityscape* 14(3): 55–89.
- Dewilde, C. (2008). Divorce and the housing movements of owner-occupiers: A European comparison. *Housing Studies* 23(6): 809–832. doi:10.1080/02673 030802423151.
- Dewilde, C. (2009). Divorce and housing: A European comparison of the housing consequences of divorce for men and women. In Andreß, H.-J. and Hummelsheim, D. (eds.). When marriage ends: Economic and social consequences of partnership dissolution. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar: 263–284.
- Evans, G.W. and Saegert, S. (2000). Residential crowding in the context of inner city poverty. In: Wapner, S., Demick, J., Yamamoto, T., and Minami, H. (eds.). *Theoretical perspectives in environment-behavior research: Underlying assumptions, research problems, and methodologies*. Boston, MA: Springer US: 247–267. doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-4701-3_20.
- Feijten, P. and Van Ham, M. (2007). Residential mobility and migration of the divorced and separated. *Demographic Research* 17(21): 623–654. doi:10.4054/DemRes. 2007.17.21.
- Feijten, P. and Van Ham, M. (2010). The impact of splitting up and divorce on housing careers in the UK. *Housing Studies* 25(4): 483–507. doi:10.1080/0267303100 3711477.
- Ferrari, G., Bonnet, C., and Solaz, A. (2019). 'Will the one who keeps the children keep the house?' Residential mobility after divorce by parenthood status and custody arrangements in France. *Demographic Research* 40(14): 359–394. doi:10.4054/ DemRes.2019.40.14.
- Fransson, E., Hjern, A., and Bergström, M. (2018). What can we say regarding shared parenting arrangements for Swedish children? *Journal of Divorce and Remarriage* 59(5): 349–358. doi:10.1080/10502556.2018.1454198.
- Fusco, A. (2015). The relationship between income and housing deprivation: A longitudinal analysis. *Economic Modelling* 49: 137–143. doi:10.1016/j.econmod. 2015.04.002.
- Gram-Hanssen, K. and Bech-Danielsen, C. (2008). Home dissolution: What happens after separation? *Housing Studies* 23(3): 507–522. doi:10.1080/02673030 802020635.

- Grander, M. (2017). New public housing: A selective model disguised as universal? Implications of the market adaptation of Swedish public housing. *International Journal of Housing Policy* 17(3): 335–352. doi:10.1080/19491247.2016.1265266.
- Hogendoorn, B., Leopold, T., and Bol, T. (2020). Divorce and diverging poverty rates: A risk-and-vulnerability approach. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 82(3): 1089– 1109. doi:10.1111/jomf.12629.
- International Labour Organization (2021). Labor force participation rate, female (% of female population ages 15+). European Union. Washington, D.C.: World Bank. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.TLF.CACT.FE.ZS?end=2019&locations =EU.
- Jelleyman, T. and Spencer, N. (2008). Residential mobility in childhood and health outcomes: A systematic review. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 62(7): 584. doi:10.1136/jech.2007.060103.
- Kalmijn, M., De Leeuw, S., Ivanova, K., Hornstra, M., Van Gaalen, R., and Van Houdt, K. (2019). Family complexity into adulthood: The central role of mothers in shaping intergenerational ties. *American Sociological Review* 84(5): 876–904. doi:10.1177/0003122419871959.
- Lind, H. (2014). Social Housing in Sweden. In: Scanlon, K., Whitehead, C., and Arrigoitia, M.F. (eds.). *Social housing in Europe*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons: 91–102. doi:10.1002/9781118412367.ch6.
- Lupton, R. (2016). Housing policies and their relationship to residential moves for families with young children. *Longitudinal and Life Course Studies* 7(3): 288– 301. doi:10.14301/llcs.v7i3.377.
- McLanahan, S. (2004). Diverging destinies: How children are faring under the second demographic transition. *Demography* 41(4): 607–627. doi:10.1353/dem.2004. 0033.
- McLanahan, S. and Percheski, C. (2008). Family structure and the reproduction of inequalities. *Annual Review of Sociology* 34: 257–276. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc. 34.040507.134549.
- Meen, G., Nygaard, C., and Meen, J. (2013). The causes of long-term neighbourhood change. In: Van Ham, M., Manley, D., Bailey, N., Simpson, L., and Maclennan, D. (eds.). Understanding neighbourhood dynamics: New insights for neighbourhood effects research. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands: 43–62. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-4854-5_3.

- Mikolai, J. and Kulu, H. (2018). Short- and long-term effects of divorce and separation on housing tenure in England and Wales. *Population Studies* 72(1): 17–39. doi:10.1080/00324728.2017.1391955.
- Mikolai, J., Kulu, H., and Mulder, C.H. (2020). Family life transitions, residential relocations, and housing in the life course: Current research and opportunities for future work: Introduction to the Special Collection on "Separation, Divorce, and Residential Mobility in a Comparative Perspective". *Demographic Research* 43(2): 35–58. doi:10.4054/DemRes.2020.43.2.
- Ministry of Social Affairs (2011). Fortsatt Föräldrar Om Ansvar, Ekonomi Och Samarbete För Barnets Skull. Stockholm, Sweden: Fritzes. https://www.regeringen.se/rattsliga-dokument/statens-offentliga-utredningar/ 2011/06/sou-201151/.
- Mood, C. and Jonsson, J.O. (2016). Trends in child poverty in Sweden: Parental and child reports. *Child Indicators Research* 9(3): 825–854. doi:10.1007/s12187-015-9337z.
- Mulder, C.H. and Malmberg, G. (2011). Moving related to separation: Who moves and to what distance. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space* 43(11): 2589–2607. doi:10.1068/a43609.
- Mulder, C.H., ten Hengel, B., Latten, J., and Das, M. (2012). Relative resources and moving from the joint home around divorce. *Journal of Housing and the Built Environment* 27(2): 153–168. doi:10.1007/s10901-011-9250-9.
- Mulder, C. H., and Wagner, M. (2010). Union dissolution and mobility: Who moves from the family home after separation? *Journal of Marriage and Family* 72(5): 1263–1273. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00763.x.
- Murinkó, L. (2019). Housing consequences of divorce and separation in a 'super home ownership' regime: The case of Hungary. *Demographic Research* 40(34): 975– 1014. doi:10.4054/DemRes.2019.40.34.
- Musterd, S., Marcińczak, S., Van Ham, M., and Tammaru, T. (2017). Socioeconomic segregation in European capital cities. Increasing separation between poor and rich. Urban Geography 38(7): 1062–1083. doi:10.1080/02723638.2016.1228371.
- Ohlsson-Wijk, S., Turunen, J., and Andersson, G. (2020). Family forerunners? An overview of family demographic change in Sweden. In: May, J.F. and Goldstone, J.A. (eds.) *International handbook on the demography of marriage and the family*. Cham: Springer: 65–77. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-35079-6_5.

- Perelli-Harris, B. and Sánchez Gassen, N. (2012). How similar are cohabitation and marriage? Legal approaches to cohabitation across Western Europe. *Population* and Development Review 38(3): 435–467. doi:10.1111/j.1728-4457.2012. 00511.x.
- Plewis, I., Ketende, S.C., and Joshi, H. (2008). The contribution of residential mobility to sample loss in a birth cohort study: Evidence from the first two waves of the Uk Millennium Cohort Study. *Journal of Official Statistics* 24(3): 365.
- Poortman, A.-R. (2021). Postdivorce parent-child contact and child outcomes: The role of spatial mobility. In: Bernardi, L. and Mortelmans, D. (eds.). *Shared physical custody* Cham: Springer: 207–229. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-68479-2_10.
- Poortman, A.-R. and Van Gaalen, R. (2017). Shared residence after separation: A review and new findings from the Netherlands. *Family Court Review* 55(4): 531–544. doi:10.1111/fcre.12302.
- Raley, R.K. and Sweeney, M.M. (2020). Divorce, repartnering, and stepfamilies: A decade in review. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 82(1): 81–99. doi:10.1111/ jomf.12651.
- Sandström, G. and Garðarsdóttir, Ó. (2018). Long-term perspectives on divorce in the nordic countries – introduction. *Scandinavian Journal of History* 43(1): 1–17. doi:10.1080/03468755.2017.1384661.
- Stjernström, O. and Strömgren, M. (2012). Geographical distance between children and absent parents in separated families. *Geografiska Annaler: Series B, Human Geography* 94(3): 239–253. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0467.2012.00412.x.
- Svensk Mäklarstatistik (2021). Bostadsmarknaden 10 Augusti 2021 [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.maklarstatistik.se/pressmeddelanden/nagot-lugnarepa-bostadsmarknaden/.
- Therborn, G. (2020). Sweden's turn to economic inequality, 1982–2019. *Structural Change and Economic Dynamics* 52: 159–166. doi:10.1016/j.strueco.2019. 10.005.
- Thomas, M.J., Mulder, C.H., and Cooke, T.J. (2017). Linked lives and constrained spatial mobility: The case of moves related to separation among families with children. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers* 42(4): 597–611. doi:10.1111/tran.12191.

- Thomas, M.J., Mulder, C.H., and Cooke, T.J. (2018). Geographical distances between separated parents: A longitudinal analysis. *European Journal of Population* 34(4): 463–489. doi:10.1007/s10680-017-9437-1.
- Thomson, E. (2005). Partnerships and parenthood: A comparative view of cohabitation, marriage, and childbearing. In: Booth, A. and Crouter, N. (eds.). *The new population problem: Why families in developed countries are shrinking and what it means*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum: 129–149.
- Thomson, E. (2014). Family complexity in Europe. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 654(1): 245–258. doi:10.1177/ 0002716214531384.
- Van der Wiel, R., Kooiman, N., and Mulder, C.H. (2021). Family complexity and parents' migration: The role of repartnering and distance to non-resident children. *European Journal of Population* 37: 877–907. doi:10.1007/s10680-021-09594-0.
- Wagner, M. and Mulder, C.H. (2015). Spatial mobility, family dynamics, and housing transitions. KZfSS Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie 67(1): 111–135. doi:10.1007/s11577-015-0327-4.
- Washbrook, E., Clarke, P.S., and Steele, F. (2014). Investigating non-ignorable dropout in panel studies of residential mobility. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series C: Applied Statistics* 63(2): 239–266. doi:10.1111/rssc.12028.
- Zavisca, J.R. and Gerber, T.P. (2016). The socioeconomic, demographic, and political effects of housing in comparative perspective. *Annual Review of Sociology* 42: 347–367. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-081715-074333.

Appendix

ince parents	gression		÷		-2.76	-2.81			-5.13	-4.20			-2.92	-2.86		-1.48	-0.31
Dista between	Linear re		Beta		-0.02	-0.03			-0.03	-0.03			-0.04	-0.04		-0.02	<-0.01
		her	++						-1.05	-0.79	-1.81					-0.67	1.58
nce t move	gression	Fath	Beta						-0.01	-0.01	-0.02					-0.01	0.02
Dista of the firs	Linear rec	her	÷		-6.03	-5.59	2.42						-3.69	-3.05			
		Moth	Beta		-0.05	-0.05	0.02						-0.06	-0.05			
		er	÷						-6.48	-7.04	-7.40					-4.79	0.08
moves ¹	gression	Fath	Beta						-0.04	-0.05	-0.05					-0.04	<0.01
Number of	Poisson re	ler	÷		-0.06	-2.98	-6.00						3.69	0.98			
		Moth	Beta		<-0.01	-0.02	-0.04						0.03	0.01			
rents ed	gression		÷		8.74	13.14			2.59	3.57			1.55	1.28		3.54	2.83
Both pa mov	Logistic ree		Beta		0.39	0.73			0.14	0.29			0.11	0.10		0.21	0.21
Dependent variable	Model			Income tertile mother (ref. lowest)	Middle	Highest	Contribution to household income mother	Income tertile father (ref. lowest)	Middle	Highest	Contribution to household income father	Education mother (ref. < secondary)	Secondary	Tertiary	Education father (ref. < secondary)	Secondary	Tertiary

Table A-1: Models predicting moving and distance after parental separation

Dependent variable	Both pare moved	ents		Number o	if moves ¹			Distan of the first	ice t move		Distand between pa	ce arents
Model	Logistic regr	ession		Poisson re	egression			Linear reg	ression		Linear regre	ession
			Mot	her	Fathe		Mothe	5	Fathe	3r		
	Beta	t	Beta	Ŧ	Beta	Ŧ	Beta	Ŧ	Beta	Ŧ	Beta	Ŧ
Mother unemployed (ref. no)	<0.01	0.09	<0.01	0.96			0.04	4.42			0.03	3.45
Father unemployed (ref. no)	0.01	0.17			0.04	8.48			0.05	5.38	0.04	5.33
Lived in large city (ref. no)	0.18	2.77	-0.04	-4.24	0.04	9.04	<-0.01	-0.57	-0.04	-4.72	-0.02	-2.96
Number of joint children	-0.39	-7.06	0.02	4.95	0.06	9.29	-0.03	-4.37	-0.01	-1.32	-0.03	-4.38
Mother's age	-0.25	-5.09	-0.13	-22.09			0.01	1.11			<-0.01	-0.01
Father's age	-0.32	-5.57			-0.10	-12.74			<0.01	0.03	0.02	1.89
Parents were married (ref. cohabitina)	0.13	3.37	0.01	1.76	0.02	3.91	0.01	1.22	-0.00	-0.04	0.01	0.87
Age youngest child	-0.05	-1.13	0.01	2.23	0.03	4.15	-0.07	-7.81	-0.06	-5.19	-0.05	-6.50
Children registered with mother (ref. no)	1.06	10.23	-0.23	-34.02			0.04	3.94			-0.06	-5.41
Children registered with father (ref. no)	-0.01	-0.13			-0.48	-41.74			-0.01	-0.77	-0.10	-9.37
Mother lives with new partner (ref. no)	0.08	1.74	-0.02	-3.20			<0.01	-0.52			-0.03	-3.09
Father lives with new partner (ref. no)	0.12	2.48			0.02	5.11			0.01	1.25	0.02	1.20
(Pseudo) Log-Likelihood	-12935.83	I	35912.03		-33329.70	1	-101619.13	1	77551.66	1	-148699.39	
(Pseudo) R-square	0.04		0.04		0.11		0.02		0.01		0.02	
Z	27,204	2	7,204		27,204	1	8,529	1	4,041	2	27,204	
Source: Statistics Sweden.												

Table A-1: (Continued)

curse: statestics sweeters, tratistics in second column. Standard errors adjusted for clustering within municipalities. Notes: Standardized beta coefficients; t statistics in second column. Standard errors adjusted for clustering within municipalities. 1 Controlled for the number of moves in the three years preceding the separation.

Dependent variable	Owner-o	occupied to	rental hou	using	Down	igrade in	type of hous	ing	Change in neighborhood deprivation				
Model	F	oisson reg	gression			Logistic r	egression		Linear regression				
	Moth	er	Fath	er	Moth	er	Fath	er	Moth	er	Fath	er	
	Beta	t	Beta	t	Beta	t	Beta	t	Beta	t	Beta	t	
Income tertile mother (ref. lowest)													
Middle	-0.24	-4.55			0.35	7.78			0.04	5.11			
Highest	-1.02	-12.15			0.26	2.73			0.04	2.67			
Contribution to household income mother	0.01	0.23			-0.57	-13.36			-0.05	-5.64			
Income tertile father (ref. lowest)													
Middle			-0.44	-5.84			0.13	1.95			0.04	5.63	
Highest			-0.97	-8.46			0.17	1.83			0.05	6.11	
Contribution to household income father	•		-0.28	-4.09			-0.58	-9.22			-0.07	-7.45	
Education mother (ref. < secondary)													
Secondary	-0.17	-2.31			0.40	8.02			0.02	2.14			
Tertiary	-0.47	-6.17			0.33	6.71			0.02	2.46			
Education father (ref. < secondary)													
Secondary			-0.35	-3.85			<-0.00	-0.01			0.04	4.29	
Tertiary			-0.13	-1.20			0.29	6.09			0.05	4.89	
Mother unemployed (ref. no)	0.14	4.44			-0.08	-2.45			-0.02	-2.27			
Father unemployed (ref. no)			0.13	2.68			0.01	0.31			-0.01	-2.35	
Lived in large city (ref. no)	-0.27	-1.50	0.24	2.51	-0.28	-4.16	0.09	2.00	-0.03	-1.88	-0.02	-2.18	
Number of joint children	<-0.01	-0.00	0.06	1.13	-0.22	-8.13	0.04	0.75	<-0.01	-0.06	<-0.01	-0.53	
Mother's age	-0.43	-9.58			-0.16	-4.39			0.01	1.35			
Father's age			-0.33	-4.77			-0.08	-1.92			0.01	0.74	
Parents were married (ref. cohabiting)	-0.11	-2.98	0.04	0.64	0.01	0.34	0.11	3.30	-0.02	-3.59	<0.01	0.72	
Age youngest child	0.16	3.56	0.09	1.35	0.17	5.24	0.17	2.82	0.01	0.85	0.01	0.87	
Children registered with mother (ref. no)	-0.67	-15.73			-1.06	-30.60			-0.10	-13.09			
(ref_no)			-2.58	-30.95			-2.08	-43.42			-0.07	-11.26	
Mother lives with new partner (ref. no)	-0.32	-7.04			-0.20	-6.38			-0.02	-3.91			
Father lives with new partner (ref. no)			-0.22	-3.98			-0.10	-3.07			-0.02	-3.34	
(Pseudo) Log-Likelihood	-11573.28	-	-7759.28	-	-16703.79		-13784.48	-	-28171.30	-	-27072.68		
(Pseudo) R-square	0.07		0.12		0.07		0.10		0.02		0.01		
N	19,982	1	19,982	:	27,204		27,204	2	27,204	2	27,204		

Table A-2: Models predicting (changes in) housing outcomes after parental separation

Source: Statistics Sweden.

Note: Standardized beta coefficients; t statistics in second column. Standard errors adjusted for clustering within municipalities.

Dependent variable	Both par move	ents d	N	umber o	of moves3		0	Dista f the firs	nce st move	Distance between parents		
Model	Logistic reg	ression	P	oisson re	egression		Li	near reg		Linear regre	ession	
			Moth	er	Fathe	er	Mothe	r	Fathe	r		
	Beta	t	Beta	t	Beta	t	Beta	t	Beta	t	Beta	t
Income tertile mother (ref. lowest)												
Middle	0.30	4.43	< 0.01	-0.05			-0.05	-4.87			-0.03	-3.20
Highest	0.50	6.50	-0.04	-3.67			-0.04	-3.13			-0.02	-1.50
Income tertile father (ref. lowest)												
Middle	-0.06	-0.83			-0.06	-6.45			-0.01	-0.70	-0.03"	-3.14
Highest	-0.12	-1.54			-0.07	-6.22			0.02	1.04	-0.02	-1.71
Lived in 3 largest local labor markets (ref. no)	-0.09	-1.08	-0.06	-4.45	0.03	3.67	0.03	1.56	-0.03	-1.65	<0.01	0.02
Interaction mother												
Middle*local labor markets	0.13	1.93	<0.01	0.18			-0.01	-0.89			0.01	0.83
Highest* local labor markets	0.26	3.03	0.03	2.96			-0.03	-2.03			-0.01	-0.86
Interaction father												
Middle* local labor markets	0.30	4.15			0.03	3.55			<0.01	0.21	<-0.01	-0.48
Highest* local labor markets	0.50	4.82			0.02	1.92			-0.03	-1.38	-0.01	-1.05
(Pseudo) Log-Likelihood	-12874.34		-35904.88		-33310.94		-101616.34		-77552.94		-148702.65	
(Pseudo) R-square	0.05		0.04		0.11		0.02		0.01		0.02	
N	27,204		27,204		27,204		18,529		14,041		27,204	

Table A-3: Models¹ predicting moving and distance after parental separation, interaction between income and three largest local labor markets²

Source: Statistics Sweden.

Note: Standardized beta coefficients; t statistics in second column. Standard errors adjusted for clustering within municipalities. ¹ All models were controlled for parents' education, employment status, age, number of joint children, age of youngest joint child, whether they were married (pre-separation), whether they have a child registered at their house (post-separation), and whether they lived with a new partner (post-separation).

² Stockholm, Gothenburg, and Malmö.

³ Controlled for the number of moves in the 3 years preceding the separation.

Table A-4:Models1 predicting (changes in) housing outcomes after parental
separation, interaction between income and three largest local labor
markets2

Dependent variable	Owner-oc	cupied to	rental hou	Ising	Downg	rade in ty	pe of hous	ing	Change in neighborhood deprivation				
Model	Po	isson reg	ression		L	ogistic re	gression		Linear regression				
	Mothe	er	Fathe	er	Mothe	er	Fathe	er	Mothe	er	Fathe	er	
	Beta	t	Beta	t	Beta	t	Beta	t	Beta	t	Beta	t	
Income tertile mother (ref. lowest)													
Middle	-0.17	-2.87			0.23	4.65			0.03	3.20			
Highest	-0.67	-9.53			-0.01	-0.07			-0.01	-0.77			
Income tertile father (ref. lowest)													
Middle			-0.33	-3.61			-0.14	-2.36			0.03	3.39	
Highest			-0.59	-4.56			-0.14	-1.80			0.02	3.03	
Lived in 3 largest local labor markets	-0.60	-7.05	0.08	0.66	-0.53	_1 02	_0.13	_1 44	-0.06	-3.04	-0.02	_1.60	
(ref. no)	-0.03	-1.55	0.00	0.00	-0.55	-4.32	-0.15	-1.44	-0.00	-3.04	-0.02	-1.03	
Interaction mother													
Middle*local labor markets	-0.08	-1.17			0.23	4.35			0.02	1.36			
Highest* local labor markets	-0.35	-3.73			0.46	4.59			0.07	4.47			
Interaction father													
Middle* local labor markets			-0.16	-1.64			0.40	5.70			0.03	2.45	
Highest* local labor markets			-0.49	-3.43			0.42	3.99			0.04	3.75	
(Pseudo) Log-Likelihood	-11320.56		-7758.21		-16670.76		-13743.80		-28152.51		-27070.01		
(Pseudo) R-square	0.09		0.12		0.07		0.11		0.02		0.01		
N	19,982		19,982		27,204		27,204		27,204		27,204		

Source: Statistics Sweden.

Note: Standardized beta coefficients; t statistics in second column. Standard errors adjusted for clustering within municipalities.

¹ All models were controlled for parents' education, employment status, age, number of joint children, age of youngest joint child, whether they were married (pre-separation), whether they have a child registered at their house (post-separation), and whether they lived with a new partner (post-separation).

² Stockholm, Gothenburg, and Malmö.